

# VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland

# Sustainability governance and contested plastic food packaging

Sundqvist-Andberg, Henna; Åkerman, Maria

Published in: Journal of Cleaner Production

DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127111

Published: 15/07/2021

Document Version Publisher's final version

*License* CC BY

Link to publication

Please cite the original version: Sundqvist-Andberg, H., & Åkerman, M. (2021). Sustainability governance and contested plastic food packaging: An integrative review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *306*, [127111]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127111



VTT http://www.vtt.fi P.O. box 1000FI-02044 VTT Finland By using VTT's Research Information Portal you are bound by the following Terms & Conditions.

I have read and I understand the following statement:

This document is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of this document is not permitted, except duplication for research use or educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission for any other use. Electronic or print copies may not be offered for sale. Journal of Cleaner Production 306 (2021) 127111

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Cleaner Production

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jclepro

# Sustainability governance and contested plastic food packaging – An integrative review

Henna Sundqvist-Andberg<sup>a,\*</sup>, Maria Åkerman<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, Tekniikantie 21, 02044, Espoo, Finland
 <sup>b</sup> VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, Visiokatu 4, 33101, Tampere, Finland

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 October 2020 Received in revised form 9 April 2021 Accepted 11 April 2021 Available online 17 April 2021

Handling editor: Prof. Jiri Jaromir Klemeš

Keywords: Food packaging Plastic Sustainability governance Circular economy Integrative review

# ABSTRACT

Based on an integrative literature review, this article investigates the reasons for the difficulties in governing sustainability of plastic food packaging. By integrating the results from different disciplinary fields, ranging from material sciences to behavioural and social sciences, the article sheds light on the contestations between different sustainability goals and interests that relate to food packaging and it shows that there are trade-offs between them. With an in-depth analysis of the sustainability issues related to different phases of the life cycle of plastic food packages, the article identifies how the attempts to govern individual sustainability problems as part of circular economy policies create tensions with other sustainability issues. The analysis shows that while the circular economy covers the entire life cycle of a food package, the beginning and the end of the life cycle have gained the most attention and only limited number of policy measures focus on the consumption phase. As a conclusion, we claim that the different functions of plastic food packaging need to be acknowledged better in environmental policy design.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

### Contents

1.	Introduction	. 2
2.	Methodology	. 3
3.	Societal concerns over plastic food packaging throughout its life cycle	. 3
	3.1. The environmental concerns related to the production of plastics for packaging	
	3.2. Packaging: the necessary mediator in the modern food system	
	3.3. Debates over food waste and loss prevention versus overpackaging	.5
	3.4. Food packages and the dilemma of single-use culture	. 5
	3.5. The end-of-life of plastic packaging	. 5
	3.5.1. Packaging waste mismanagement: A source of plastic pollution	.5
	3.5.2. The failures and bottlenecks of recycling plastic packages	.6
4.	The circular economy as a suggested solution to governing plastic food packaging	. 7
	4.1. Reduce and replace	.7
	4.2. Reuse	. 8
	4.3. Recycle and recover	. 8
5.	Controversies in the governance of plastic food packaging for the circular economy	. 9
	5.1. Contradicting sustainability targets and rebound effects	.9
	5.2. Failing responsibilities	10
	5.3. Separate circular economies for plastics and food systems	10
6.	Concluding remarks	10
	CRediT author statement	11

\* Corresponding author.

### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127111

0959-6526/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Review





*E-mail addresses:* henna.sundqvist-andberg@vtt.fi (H. Sundqvist-Andberg), maria.akerman@vtt.fi (M. Åkerman).

Declaration of competing interest	. 11
Acknowledgement	
Supplementary data	
References .	
	• • • •

# 1. Introduction

The modern food system - characterised by its geographical spread, and by global value chains - would not function without packaging. Food packaging is essential; for example, for the containment and protection of food, convenience and communication (Marsh and Bugusu, 2007). However, during recent years, the negative environmental impacts of packaging, including food packaging, have raised increasing concerns, both in public media forums and in the cabinets of policymaking (European Commission, 2018). One reason for this is the need to tackle the urgent marine plastic pollution caused by the 4.7-12.8 megatonnes (Mt) of mismanaged plastic waste that end up in the oceans every year (Jambeck et al., 2015). Despite increasing awareness, the marine plastic litter problem has escalated to a global crisis. Marine plastics derive from several origins and sources, and packaging, in particular, food and drinks packaging, has been identified as a major source of pollution (Miller et al., 2018). Several policy measures and voluntary actions have been launched by public and private bodies to address the problems caused by plastic food packages. These actions include policies and regulations to reduce or ban single-use plastics (European Commission, 2019) and voluntary measures, like collaborative commitments (Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2020) and pacts (European Plastics Pact, 2020) to foster the circular economy of plastics. Despite these efforts, the usage of plastics is foreseen to increase. Lebreton and Andrady (2019) have estimated that the production of plastics will reach the level of 155-265 Mt by 2060 at current growth rates. Furthermore, critical voices claim that the reduction of the usage of plastics in food packaging may lead to bigger environmental problems in the food chain, for example, in terms of food loss (Barlow and Morgan, 2013).

The plastic issue has become politicised during recent years in multiple ways (see, e.g. Nielsen et al., 2019). It is a typical example of a complex sustainability governance issue, characterised by contested and ambiguous knowledge, interests and values (see, e.g. Lange et al., 2019). As Nielsen et al. (2019) have found out in their comprehensive review of plastic politics, there is no one plastic problem but many plastic problems. The possible interpretations of what the plastic problem is about range from the mismanagement of waste to health issues and the shift towards bioeconomy. The different interpretations of what is at stake when aiming to solve the problems of plastic food packaging complicate the communication between various societal stakeholders concerning the possible solutions. Furthermore, because food packaging is a key element in enabling the functioning of the food system, the problems caused by plastic food packaging cannot be solved by mere regulation or through activities taken by a single actor.

In this article, we explore the reasons behind the difficulties of finding comprehensive governance measures that would render food packaging more sustainable by shedding light on the internal tensions between various sustainability issues related to plastic food packaging. We do this through an integrated literature review and analyse how studies in different disciplinary fields, ranging from material sciences to social sciences, define the essence of the sustainability issues related to plastic food packaging and the dynamics behind them. This kind of integrative, multidisciplinary approach is needed in order to bring up the contested views on the sustainability impacts of the usage of plastic in food packaging and to understand the impact of these contestations on the attempts to solve the sustainability problems caused by plastic food packaging. We particularly focus our analysis of the internal tensions between different sustainability governance aims on circular economy (CE) policies because this is a policy field where plastic food packaging has recently been gaining attention.

The European Union (EU) has addressed the problem of plastic food packages in its plastic strategy and Circular Economy Action Plan (European Commission, 2015). It offers transition towards a circular economy as an overarching solution for the plastic crisis. Integrating plastic food packages in the new circular plastic economy requires multi-actor collaboration and the engagement of various societal actors - including companies from different industrial fields, citizen consumers, authorities, policymakers and NGOs - in order to co-create novel modes of producing packaging materials and delivering food in a sustainable way. Furthermore, comprehensive transformative environmental governance (Jacob and Ekins, 2020) is needed in order to support the transition. The design of governance measures for such a systemic shift is not possible without a holistic understanding of the different roles of plastic packaging in the food chain and the achievement of various, sometimes even conflicting, sustainability goals. Furthermore, indepth knowledge of the systemic impacts of the different policy measures designed to boost the circular economy transition in food packaging is also of major importance in order to avoid unintended negative sustainability impacts elsewhere when tackling the plastic problem.

To get a comprehensive picture of the various and often controversial sustainability issues related to plastic food packaging, this article provides a review of research papers discussing the sustainability of plastic in different parts of the food packaging life cycle. According to Nielsen et al. (2019), the focus of the plastics debate and research has so far been on relatively easily governed objects, such as plastic bags, whereas more complex objects, such as plastic food packaging, have gained less attention. Here, we define plastic food packaging broadly as primary packaging – such as cups, containers, bottles, and films – that is fully or partly made of plastics. This type of packaging is used for containing and/or protecting food and is in direct contact with food. It has been claimed that environmental policies are often fragmented and tackle narrow, specific problems. Following from that, they are not effective in enhancing the broader socio-technical transformations that are needed to achieve structural changes, such as the circular economy transition (Jacob and Ekins, 2020).

With an integrative review, collecting and analysing studies from different disciplinary fields, we take the need for a holistic approach seriously and investigate the sustainability of plastic food packaging as a systemic problem instead of focusing merely on single packaging items or particular environmental impacts. We are interested in plastic food packages as objects that flow through different societal regimes (see, e.g. Geels, 2002) and systems of production, and the need to meet the standards and expectations of different societal realms. Following from that, we not only focus on the sustainability impacts of the usage of plastic in food packaging but also pay attention to the processes that maintain the status of plastic as an easy, reliable and cost-effective material for food packaging. With the chosen approach we want to increase the understanding of the types of tensions that need to be solved when designing policies to advance the circular plastic economy within the food system. To do that, we systematically analyse how the sustainability of plastic food packaging is addressed in academic literature over the time period of 2000–2019 and through which circular economy policy measures these sustainability challenges are governed.

This paper is structured as follows: Section 2, 'Methodology', describes the research approach and methods of the literature review. Section 3 introduces the multiple societal sustainability concerns over plastic food packaging. Section 4 discusses a circular economy as a solution in governing plastic food packaging. In Section 5, internal controversies in the governance of plastic food packaging for the circular economy are presented. Section 6 synthesises and concludes the findings, focusing on the implications of different governance targets and the means of achieving those targets throughout the life cycle of food packaging, and discusses future research needs.

# 2. Methodology

Our analytical approach builds on the systematic literature review methodology (Tranfield et al., 2003) and the integrative literature review methodology (Torraco, 2016). The review protocol and, in particular, data gathering were conducted based on the systematic literature review methodology whereas the integrative analysis and synthesis were done according to the principles of an integrative literature review. We chose the integrative approach because it fits well with dynamic topics, such as the relatively recently emerged and rapidly changing plastic food packaging issue, which are experiencing rapid growth in the literature and generating 'a growing body of literature that may include contradictions or a discrepancy between the literature and observations about the issue, which are not addressed in the literature', as suggested by Torraco (2016). This methodological choice is suitable in cases where the aim is not to review and compare methods and concepts or analyse research gaps within a clearly defined field of research but instead to reach a comprehensive, multidisciplinary picture of an evolving, complex and controversial societal issue from different perspectives.

The review protocol had three stages: (1) the planning stage with the formulation of a research question that defines the boundaries of the literature to be reviewed, (2) the conducting stage, involving data extraction and coding, followed by data analysis and synthesis, and (3) the reporting stage, focusing on answering the research questions.

In the first stage, a list of potential key words that highlight the research question was formulated in order to draw boundaries for the literature search and to find the relevant search topics, enabling collecting a corpus of articles shedding light on food packaging as a governance issue from the perspective of different research fields. The relevance of the chosen key words was tested by using preliminary search strings of potential keywords in the Scopus database and exploring whether they hit articles relevant to the research aim. The preliminary search was limited to the article title, keywords and abstract. Based on this trial-and-error method, five main categories were identified: (1) packaging, (2) waste and safety, (3) the packaging life cycle, (4) governance and (5) zeropackaging. The keywords for the literature search are presented in Table 1.

Due to the multidisciplinary nature of the topic, two databases, Scopus and Web of Science, were used in the main stage of the literature search. The search was limited to peer-reviewed academic journal articles and reviews published in English during 2000–2019. We focused on peer-reviewed articles in order to get an understanding of how governance challenges and strategies are presented in the scientific literature, yet acknowledge that original sources for governance approaches are mainly grey papers. The database searches were carried out during October and November 2019.

The main body of literature derived from five search strings using different combinations of search terms (see Appendix 1). The searches resulted in 595 hits before the removal of duplicates. After the removal of duplicates, the titles and abstracts of these articles were read through to see the relevance to the study. If the article appeared relevant, then the entire text was read and compared to the research boundaries. The articles were analysed using the following inclusion criteria: relevance to (1) plastic food packaging and (2) sustainability governance. Articles were excluded if they focused (1) only on, for example, natural or material sciences without a relevant connection to governance and (2) on packaging labelling that is related to food consumption and health. Reading the abstracts resulted an initial selection of 137 articles, of which 80 were included in the content analysis. During the analysis phase, additional articles were identified from the references of the retrieved articles and recommended articles via the snowballing method. The research field is developing fast, therefore an additional article, published in 2020, was included in the review. This resulted in identifying a further 47 articles in total.

The analysis of data followed an inductive approach and qualitative content analysis was applied (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005). The analysis was conducted in four stages. Because we were particularly interested in the role of contested sustainability goals in the governance of food packaging, the main coding categories at the first stage related to contestations and various systemic roles of food packaging. The categories were (1) sustainability governance failures, (2) the role of food packaging in causing or solving sustainability issues, (3) governance measures and instruments and (4) tensions and conflicting issues. The initial coding was carried out using the actual words used in the articles (in vivo codes), followed by summarising the findings into subthemes (constructed codes).

At the second stage of analysis, we identified which substance topics were frequently brought up under each of the categories of the first coding stage and analysed how these topics related to different phases of the life cycle of food packaging. We chose the life cycle of food packaging as a guiding principle for organising the research results because it made it possible in the third stage of analysis to identify how circular economy policies address different sustainability goals at different phases of the food packaging value chain. In the fourth stage, we conducted a synthesis on the controversies of the governance of sustainability of food packaging within the framework of circular economy policies.

The initial coding was carried out by the corresponding author. In the case of differing interpretations, the coding categories and codes were deliberated and agreed upon by two researchers. The coding and the data analysis was carried out by using the NVIVO qualitative data analysis software.

# 3. Societal concerns over plastic food packaging throughout its life cycle

# 3.1. The environmental concerns related to the production of plastics for packaging

Plastic is perceived as a durable, moldable, light and inexpensive material (Geyer et al., 2017), which makes it ideal for packaging

Table 1

Journal of Cleaner Production 306 (2021) 127111

The keywords for the literature search.					
Category	Search terms				
Packaging	pack*, "food pack*", "food container", "plastic object", single-use, "plastic pack*", plastic				
Governance	governance, govern*, collabor*, "hybrid arrangement", network, collective, stakeholder, participatory, "triple helix", partner*, politics, policy, "transition management", engagement				
The packaging life cycle	eco-design, innovation, production, consumption, use, recycling, re-use, circular economy				
Waste and safety	"plastic waste", waste, pollution, "food waste", "food loss", "food safety"				
Zero packaging	"packag* free", package-free, zero-packag*				

applications. Yet, plastics intended for food packaging comprise of a large family of different synthetic materials, including thermoplastics, bio-based plastics and bio-degradable plastics. The production and use of plastics have been increasing over the decades (Gever et al., 2017). Several scientific papers that we reviewed rely on production figures provided by associations of plastics producers (see, e.g. Geyer et al., 2017). According to Plastics Europe, the production of plastics reached the level of 359 Mt in 2018 (Plastics Europe, 2019). This means that the plastic industry utilises about 8% of global oil and gas production, including the feedstocks (4%) and energy (3-4%) required for the production (Hopewell et al., 2009). Following from that, the increasing production of plastics has been claimed to accelerate global warming through the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions produced during the extraction and usage of fossil-based oil. The environmental burden is further multiplied by the fact that a significant amount of plastic is used for disposable applications, such as single-use packaging (Hopewell et al., 2009). It was estimated that in 2015, approximately 42% of the produced non-fibre plastics - mainly composed of polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE) and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) - are used for manufacturing packaging (Geyer et al., 2017).

The increasing global consumption of commodities has raised concern about the depletion of crude oil in the scientific literature of the early 2010s. It has resulted in the extraction of oil and gas from increasingly challenging and environmentally sensitive areas, thus causing increased negative environmental impacts from the production of plastics as well. While the production of plastics is only a minor cause for the depletion of crude oil, it has triggered the development of biobased alternatives (Hottle et al., 2013). During the last decade, the production of biobased plastics has increased and is currently estimated to be 2 Mt per annum, which is less than 1% of global plastics annual production (European Bioplastics, 2019).

The majority of bioplastics are produced from crop-based agricultural feedstocks (Karan et al., 2019). While biobased plastics are proposed as environmentally benign alternatives to fossil-based plastics due to the renewable origin and potential biodegradability (Alvarez-Chávez et al., 2012), the cultivation of agricultural biomass has also been claimed to cause negative environmental and societal impacts, including conflicts in land and fresh water use (Bastos Lima, 2018). Yeh et al. (2015) observed that, while the current area used for the cultivation of biomass for bioplastics is still rather small and may not cause threats at low production levels, the increasing production of bioplastics may cause conflicts between cultivation of crops for nutrition and for manufacturing bioplastics. Industrial agricultural production methods for cropbased biomass rely on the use of toxic pesticides, which can cause further negative impacts on the environment and the biodiversity of ecosystems (Álvarez-Chávez et al., 2012). To avoid conflicts with food production, the second generation of bioplastics from agroforestry biomass (e.g. lignocellulosics from agricultural residues and wood) or waste fats and oils have been developed (Brodin et al., 2017). However, Karan et al. (2019) have argued that the increasing demand for biomass from agriculture and forestry for the production of bioplastics may interfere with natural carbon cycles and soil fertility. However, whether or not the impact is significant remains to be seen.

To overcome the potential constraints of existing bioplastics, the third generation of bioplastics is currently under development In their recent review, Karan et al. (2019) have foreseen several advantages in the production of photosynthetically derived and genetically modified biomass for bioplastics; the production of biomass can be located on non-arable land, the processes can turn  $CO_2$  into biomass and fresh water can be saved by using waste and salt water. However, the rise of genetically modified feedstocks for bioplastics has raised concerns, especially related to food packaging (Yeh et al., 2015). In their policy analysis, Yeh et al. (2015) identified the need for the traceability of the genetically modified crops used for the production of bioplastic packaging used for organic food products.

Besides using crop-based or agroforestry biomass, waste (Brodin et al., 2017) or  $CO_2$  (Karan et al., 2019) as alternative feedstocks for plastics, the use of recycled material in plastics production (Van Eygen et al., 2018) has gained importance in scientific literature. The production and transportation of all food packaging plastics, regardless of the feedstock, is shown to have environmental impacts, such as contributing to climate change, resource depletion, acidification, eutrophication, air pollution, ecotoxicity and land use (Dilkes-Hoffman et al., 2018; Toniolo et al., 2013), yet these impacts are lower than those of food production (Silvenius et al., 2014).

# 3.2. Packaging: the necessary mediator in the modern food system

Although the production of both fossil- and biobased plastics has many harmful environmental impacts, the benefits of plastics in enabling the modern food system make them difficult to replace. Through different functions – such as containment, protection, convenience and communication (Marsh and Bugusu, 2007) – packaging has a significant role in governing the life of food (Hawkins, 2018) and the prevention of food loss and waste (Williams and Wikström, 2011). In modern, global commerce, packaging also has a significant role in enabling and ensuring the safe delivery of products through supply chains to the end consumer (Lindh et al., 2016).

Innovation in material sciences and the development of plastic materials for food packaging have been suggested as key factors behind the transformation of the food markets since the 1960s (Yeh et al., 2015). As pointed out by Hawkins (2018), together with other factors, such as an increase in the amount of supermarkets and changing food purchasing and consumption habits, plastic packaging is one of the key mediators that is necessary for the functioning of the system. Depending on the point of view, food packaging can be seen as a market device that enables the development of new products, services and ways of consumption (Hawkins, 2018) or as a device that evolves in response to changing consumption patterns and lifestyles (Risch, 2009). Regardless of the

viewpoint, the literature shows that the consumption of plastic packaging in the food system has been increasing and that modern commerce is highly dependent on it.

While in the majority of food applications, plastic packaging is still just a passive container for food, plastic packaging can have a more active role in protecting food (e.g. from oxygen, moisture and flavours) and in contributing to food quality (e.g. by removing oxygen or inhibiting the growth of microbes) (Risch, 2009). While recent innovations in packaging science target food preservation, the use of novel food contact materials, such as nanomaterials have raised novel health concerns in regard to potential ecotoxicity, migration and accumulation in humans and in the environment (Sharma et al., 2017). Chemical additives, like plasticiser, are needed to improve the properties of plastics. However, concerns about the potential health impacts of the migration of additives, including plasticisers, into foodstuffs from food-contact materials is an increasingly studied subject in literature (Hahladakis et al., 2018).

# 3.3. Debates over food waste and loss prevention versus overpackaging

As mentioned earlier, a dominating environmental concern related to food packaging literature has been the use of plastics and its negative effects. Plastics have, however, also been claimed to have an important role in diminishing the climate burden of the food system in terms of reducing food losses. During the last decade, an increasing body of literature has been published on the indirect environmental impacts of food packaging, thus linking the role of packaging with food loss and waste. It is well accepted that the uptake of food packaging innovations can reduce food losses significantly (Verghese et al., 2015). As reviewed by Lindh et al. (2016), food packaging contributes most to sustainable development through the protective function of preserving food, extending food's shelf-life and thus reducing food waste. The properties of plastics make it particularly suitable for protecting food and reducing food waste (Barlow and Morgan, 2013).

Verghese et al. (2015) studied the role of packaging within the food supply chain. They concluded that packaging can minimise food loss and waste trough different functions: distribution packaging can reduce damage in the logistics chain, retail-ready packaging helps the handling of food and improves the stock rotation in store, and primary packaging can reduce the food waste in households (Verghese et al., 2015). Smart packaging design can accommodate several consumer needs while acknowledging the interdependences between food waste, packaging design and circular economy principles (Halloran et al., 2014). However, concerns about overpackaging and underpackaging, and consequences in terms of the loss of food and accumulation of waste, still remain.

While packaging design has an important role in minimising food loss, several consumer studies indicate that poor design can contribute negatively to sustainability and increase food waste (see, e.g. Urrutia et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2012; Williams and Wikström, 2011). A Swedish consumer study showed that poor packaging design (e.g. packaging that is difficult to empty or too large) contributed to 20–25% of food waste (Williams et al., 2012). Only through a proper packaging design, which meets the key functions (protection, convenience and communication), packaging can decrease the food waste at the household level (Williams and Wikström, 2011).

# 3.4. Food packages and the dilemma of single-use culture

While several life cycle assessment (LCA) studies have shown that the direct environmental impacts of food packaging are considerably lower compared to the food it contains (see, e.g. Silvenius et al., 2014; Wikström et al., 2016; Williams and Wikström, 2011), consumer studies have revealed that consumers perceive food packaging, plastic packaging in particular (Boesen et al., 2019), as having a larger environmental impact (see, e.g. Hoek et al., 2017; Lindh et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2012). A recent Australian survey supported this, concluding that despite the convenience that plastic food packaging negatively due to environmental issues connected to the use and disposal of plastics (Dilkes-Hoffman et al., 2019). Despite increasing attention being paid to the plastic problem in scientific literature, published literature on public opinion on plastic food packaging is still limited.

Packaging design can also contribute to food buying, consumption behaviour and eating habits (Girju and Ratchford, 2019). Furthermore, plastics in packaging have paved the way to new consumption practices (Hawkins, 2012) - like convenience food with easy-opening and re-closable packaging, ovenable packaged meals and single-portion packs (Sonneveld, 2000) and take-away food and fast food – through the introduction of single-use packages (Mikhailovich and Fitzgerald, 2014). The increasing demand for catered and take-away food and drinks have resulted in a significant increase in packaging waste (Maye et al., 2019). In today's society, disposable coffee cups are seen to symbolise the throwaway culture (Poortinga and Whitaker, 2018). Hage and Söderholm (2007) have gone so far as to state that, in the current society, packaging has become a symbol of unsustainable consumption. Much of the critique on plastic packages revolves around its short lifetime. The consumption phase of plastics is shortest in packaging applications and most of the plastic packages end up as waste within a year from their production (Geyer et al., 2017).

A variety of factors have been reported in the literature that can contribute to the increasing consumption of single-use plastics packaging. These factors comprise, for example, the good performance and low price of plastics (Geyer et al., 2017), issues related to food safety and hygiene that make it difficult to replace single-use plastic packaging in the food chain (lacovidou et al., 2019), protective functions enabling the reduction of food waste (Barlow and Morgan, 2013), changes in household income and size (Thanh et al., 2011), changing consumer habits and the desire for convenience (Hawkins, 2018) and the lack of information on the environmental impacts of packaging at the point of purchase (Lindh et al., 2016). The controversial role of food packaging consumption in sustainability is well acknowledged in the literature. On the one hand, plastic food packaging is seen to contribute positively to sustainability by protecting food from being lost or wasted and by ensuring food safety and delivery. On the other hand, it is seen to enable and contribute to unsustainable consumption cultures, like the increased consumption of fast food and take-away food, and it is seen as a source of obesity and as a significant source of single-use plastic waste.

# 3.5. The end-of-life of plastic packaging

# 3.5.1. Packaging waste mismanagement: A source of plastic pollution

In public discussion, the plastic problem is most often framed as a pollution crisis. Also, in scientific literature, waste management and plastic pollution are dominant topics. A rapidly increasing body of scientific literature addresses both terrestrial and especially marine plastic pollution, their origins and their implications (see, e.g. Jambeck et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2009; Vince and Stoett, 2018). Several reasons make plastics problematic if they enter into the natural environment: firstly, plastics are perceived as persistent pollutants as they are durable and resistant to environmental degradation (Thompson et al., 2009). However, with exposure to sunlight, seawater and waves, plastic packaging can degrade into smaller debris and further into secondary micro-plastics, which can easily be ingested by animals and enter the food chain (Thompson et al., 2009). Furthermore, plastics can contain additives that are potentially harmful when they leak into the environment and bioaccumulate in organisms (Hahladakis et al., 2018). At the ecosystem level, the entanglement of animals by plastics has been widely reported (Li et al., 2016). Plastic litter and debris in the oceans has been reported to damage the fishing industry, as well as to cause aesthetic concerns, especially concerns regarding tourism (Moore, 2008).

Several studies indicate that plastic food and drinks packaging is a significant source of plastic litter found in aquatic and terrestrial environments. A study on riverine litter in Germany showed that the litter mainly consisted of plastics (30.5%), of which 44% were items related to food packaging (Kiessling et al., 2019). A longitudinal study on marine debris trends on the mainland beaches of California also indicated that the majority of debris is composed of small plastic fragments and single-use plastic items, including food containers, bottles and drink containers (Miller et al., 2018). The anthropogenic litter of plastic packaging mainly originates from land-based sources and enters the ocean through coastal areas and rivers (Jambeck et al., 2015).

While mismanagement of plastic waste takes place everywhere, regional differences in amounts of mismanaged plastic waste are notable. Jambeck et al. (2015) calculated that in 2010, 275 Mt of plastic waste was generated in 192 coastal countries, of which 1.7–4.6% was estimated to enter the ocean. In the highest-polluting coastal areas, the amount of mismanaged plastic waste was calculated to be up to 27.7% (in China) and 10.1% (in Indonesia) of all plastic mismanaged plastics waste generated globally (Jambeck et al., 2015). Furthermore, Asia is estimated to present 65% of the global mismanaged plastic waste generation (52 Mt), followed by Africa (17 Mt), Latin America and Caribbean (7.9 Mt), Europe (3.3 Mt) and Northern America (0.3 Mt) in 2015 (Lebreton and Andrady, 2019).

### 3.5.2. The failures and bottlenecks of recycling plastic packages

The role of plastic incineration and recycling was insignificant before 1980, and it was estimated that 60% of all plastics ever produced were discarded at the end of their lifetime and built up in landfills or in the natural environment (Geyer et al., 2017). Only a fraction (9%) of all plastics have been recycled, and only 10% of recycled plastics have been recycled again (Geyer et al., 2017). Accoring to Hahladakis and Iacovidou (2018), only approximately 5% of the material value of plastic packaging is recovered after a one-use cycle. Several reasons for low recycling rates have been reported in literature. Packaging design often includes the use of multi-materials that may not allow recycling with the existing waste management system (Maye et al., 2019). The multitude of different plastic material grades available on the market makes household plastic packaging waste heterogeneous, thus limiting the potential for closed-loop recycling (Eriksen et al., 2019). The contamination and degradation of recyclate feedstock may hinder recycling (Eriksen et al., 2019), and the quality of plastics is reported to degrade due to repeated reprocessing (Hahladakis and lacovidou, 2018). The availability of certain new plastic materials for recycling, like biodegradable plastics, is still low and limits the development of the recycling systems, as is the case for polylactic acid (PLA) plastics (Hahladakis and Iacovidou, 2018).

The plastic litter problem is also connected to changes in the practices of food consumption. A high amount of single-use packaging made entirely or partly of plastics is used in the fast food industry. Furthermore, littering is a problem in this sector, which is shown to have a negative impact on brand image (Roper and Parker,

2013). A study by Aarnio and Hämäläinen (2008) showed that even though the theoretical recovery rate of packaging waste in the fast food industry is high (93%), the actual recovery rates are low (29%), partly because of the unavailability of proper waste sorting systems which does not allow consumers to sort their packaging waste. While certain sorting instructions and recycling labels exist for plastic food packaging, the lack of informative sorting and recycling labels or familiarity with existing eco-labels is seen to hinder consumers in sorting their food packaging waste appropriately, even if they would like to do so (Boesen et al., 2019). Wikström et al. (2016) suggested that packaging design attributes can also influence the recycling behaviour of consumers; for example, food packaging that cannot be fully emptied is likely end up in mixed waste. The lack of a recycling culture can have an impact on recycling rates (Hage and Söderholm, 2007). Market-related issues such as low demand for recycled plastics, fragmentation of the value chain and a lack of coordination - have also been identified to hinder the recycling of plastics (Milios et al., 2018).

Despite increasing incineration and recycling activities, the amount of plastic waste produced and discarded is projected to increase in the future (Lebreton and Andrady, 2019). The increasing consumption of plastics has put pressure on solid waste management systems, especially in countries with rapid economic development and population growth (Brooks et al., 2018). While the collection and recycling of plastics is perceived as a solution to the plastics problem, it may, in fact, have contributed to the build-up of the problem, especially due to global waste trade from high-income countries to lower-income countries. The plastic waste trade is seen to contribute to the mismanagement of plastic waste in lowerincome countries (Lebreton and Andrady, 2019). Brooks et al. (2018) have studied the global trade of plastic waste intended for recycling and reported that annual imports and exports have increased rapidly since 1999, by as much as 723 and 817% respectively in 2016. The authors suggest that plastic waste trade has been active between high-income OECD countries (accounting for 64% of all exports since 1988) and the lower-income countries of East Asia and the Pacific (accounting for 75% of all imports since 1988). China was the main import country until the import of nonindustrial plastic waste was banned in 2017 (Brooks et al., 2018). Furthermore, historically 89% of waste export belongs to the polymers used in single-use plastic food packaging (Brooks et al., 2018).

A functioning waste management system is necessary in order to combat the plastics crises on land and sea. Yet, all the waste treatment options, including landfill, incineration, energy recovery and recycling, also have socio-environmental impacts. For example, biodegradable packaging is a source of methane gas when disposed of in a landfill (Dilkes-Hoffman et al., 2018). Then again, waste incineration can cause environmental and health impacts which depend largely on incineration and emission control technologies and operations (Gever et al., 2017). While the recycling of plastic packaging waste is shown to be favoured over incineration due to environmental reasons (Larsen et al., 2010), the reverse logistics and plastics recycling also consumes energy and contributes to GHG emissions (Kuczenski and Geyer, 2013). Health impacts have been reported, such as the exposure of workers to bioaerosols, such a fungi, bacteria or endotoxins, at recovery facilities (Schlosser et al., 2015). A recent Brazilian study addressed the social aspects of plastics recycling by linking the recyclability of plastic packaging to the economic survival of the low-income workers who are sorting the urban dry residues (Palombini et al., 2017). The key positive and negative aspects of plastic food packaging are summarised and presented in Fig. 1.

# 4. The circular economy as a suggested solution to governing plastic food packaging

As described in the previous sections, our review shows that plastic packages connect to multiple sustainability concerns such as GHG emissions, land use conflicts, health risks, marine pollution and food loss, to name but a few. The role of plastic food packages in these sustainability dilemmas varies considerably, which indicates that to solve the plastic crisis, there needs to be a coherent mix of policy instruments which both address the particular single problems and together guide the development of food packaging in a direction that is considered as societally favourable. Due to the complexity of the topic, this is not an easy task. Our review indicates that, in terms of governance, the solutions for the problems caused by plastic food packages are searched for from waste management and the circularity of plastic material. Hence, the dominant governance approach is material oriented and puts hopes on the transition towards a circular economy. If the sustainability dilemma of plastic food packages has many faces, so has the definition and interpretation of the circular economy (Kirchherr et al., 2017). As an open-ended concept, it can cover mutually controversial expectations (see, e.g. Lazarevic and Valve, 2017) and normative choices (Fitch-Roy et al., 2020), and be realised through very different socio-technical arrangements (Humalisto et al., 2020).

One of the guiding principles behind various circular economy strategies – including, for example, the EU plastics strategy – is the waste hierarchy principle. This principle emphasises the prevention of waste over reuse, recycling and recovery as energy, while waste disposal via landfill has the lowest priority. The principle can be interpreted in many ways and turned in to different policy implications. In the following, we draw together our findings on how the waste hierarchy and the principles of the circular economy shape the governance solutions and the kind of policy measures found in the reviewed literature that are suggested in order to solve the sustainability problems of plastic food packaging.

# 4.1. Reduce and replace

The main measures to reduce the use of plastics for food packaging present in the scientific literature are top-down regulationdriven measures, including regulatory and financial measures and measures to improve the eco-design of packaging. An increasing amount of voluntary, bottom-up initiatives also exist, such as brand owners promoting the use of recycled plastics (Foschi and Bonoli, 2019), grocery stores renouncing the use of disposable plastic packaging (Beitzen-Heineke et al., 2017) and retail chains committing to voluntary agreements to reduce packaging waste (Roper and Parker, 2013). Several transnational, voluntary, collaborative initiatives have emerged in recent years, including the New Plastics Economy Global Commitment of the Ellen MacArthur Foundation and the Global Plastic Action Partnership and the Global Plastics Platform led by the World Economy Forum, which both aim at reducing plastics use and pollution (Nielsen et al., 2019).

Literature on the environmental regulation of production and consumption of packaging is extensive, especially in context of the EU's packaging and packaging waste directive. For example, Cela and Kaneko (2013) have studied the effectiveness of a weightbased packaging product charge that aims to reduce the demand for virgin packaging material. The authors emphasised that caution is needed when designing taxation, and alternative environmental taxation, such as a material levy policy, could improve the uptake of technologies that would improve material efficiency and downgauging, especially in countries where packages are extensively produced (Cela and Kaneko, 2013). Several countries have adopted extended producer responsibility (EPR) schemes for packaging waste management and reduction. In EPR schemes, a producer's responsibility covers not only the production and use stages but also the post-consumer stage (Leal Filho et al., 2019). The effectives of existing extended producer responsibility schemes might not be optimal for packaging waste reduction (Van Sluisveld and Worrell, 2013), nor may they incentivise producer eco-innovations (Røine and Lee, 2008). EPR also covers deposit refund schemes for PET plastic bottles. Hopewell et al. (2009) argued that outside Europe, deposit refund schemes are not perceived as a scalable strategy for reducing plastic waste. Recent studies contradict this view and indicate that the adoption of deposit refund schemes can be an efficient economic instrument to reduce littering (Schuyler et al., 2018).

Recently, the environmental regulation of single-use plastics through banning or taxation has gained increasing attention, especially in the frame of marine protection (see, e.g. Foschi and Bonoli, 2019; Nielsen et al., 2019; Prata et al., 2019; Schnurr et al., 2018). The literature is increasing on policy measures and initiatives that focus on banning certain single-use items, especially

Production of plastics for packaging		Consumption: Plastic packaging in the food system
<ul> <li>Contributes to climate change, resource depletion, acidification, eutrophication, air pollution and ecotoxicity</li> <li>Cultivation of biobased feedstocks for plastics may result in conflicts over fresh water and land use and food production</li> </ul>	Societal concerns and the advantages of plastic food packaging throughout life cycle	<ul> <li>Poor packaging design causing food waste</li> <li>Contribution to unsustainable consumption cultures (e.g. single-use and take-away culture for food and drinks)</li> <li>Enables efficient logistics and sales</li> </ul>
End-of-life of food packaging		<ul> <li>Mediates food purchasing and consumption</li> <li>Protects and extends the food shelf life and reduces food loss and waste throughout the food supply chain</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Waste mismanagement as the key sourc aquatic and terrestrial environments</li> <li>All plastic waste treatment options - inc</li> </ul>		chain

# incineration, energy recovery and recycling - have socioenvironmental impacts (e.g. GHG emissions, health impacts)

Fig. 1. An overview of the positive (+) and negative (-) aspects of plastic food packaging throughout its life cycle.

plastic bags and single-use plastic bottles (Schnurr et al., 2018). In their consumer study, Thomas et al. (2019) suggested that banning plastic carrier bags may lead to policy spillovers and improve the acceptance of other environmental policies aiming at reducing or eliminating single-use plastics, including those used in packaging. In fact, following the regulation for plastic bags, further bans on plastic products have been implemented globally. However, scientific papers on regulatory initiatives that focus on banning singleuse plastic packaging for food and drinks are still limited. Schnurr et al. (2018) have reported on cases of national and sub-national bans on polystyrene food containers and cups implemented in Northern and Central America. Further initiatives towards reducing the use of single-use food packaging or cups by banning or taxation have also been reported (Schnurr et al., 2018), including the EU's recent directive on single-use plastics (Foschi and Bonoli, 2019). Furthermore, Maye et al. (2019) reported on the 'latte levy' suggested in Britain for disposable coffee cups.

Cases of bottom-up initiatives have been reported in the scientific literature, including charging for use, renouncing the use of take-away cups at points of sale (Maye et al., 2019) and bans on the sales of bottled water (Mikhailovich and Fitzgerald, 2014). While many of the presented cases focus on reducing take-away food and drinks packaging waste, the emergence of plastic-free supermarket aisles and package- or plastic-free shopping widens the scope to cover other food packaging items. Disposable package-free grocery shops are designed to meet the consumer demands for the removal of excess packaging, which is perceived as unsustainable (Fuentes et al., 2019). However, Prata et al. (2019) have suggested that banning single-use plastic packaging for perishable foodstuff should be avoided due to potential impacts on public health. The focus should, instead, be on improving the packaging design. Suggested eco-design improvements that aim to lower the environmental impact of packaging include material source reduction (lightweighting/downgauging, avoiding excessive packaging, reducing package void space, packaging in bulk/family packages) (Van Sluisveld and Worrell, 2013), using biodegradable or biobased plastics (Karan et al., 2019), especially from forest biomass and agricultural residues (Brodin et al., 2017), designing for reuse (Van Sluisveld and Worrell, 2013) and improving the recyclability of packaging (Toniolo et al., 2013).

# 4.2. Reuse

Direct or closed-loop reuse schemes, including take back and refilling, are not yet common for food packaging targeted to consumers. In contrast, deposit refund schemes for multiple use (reusable) PET bottles and single-use (disposable) PET bottles exist as part of EPR (Xevgenos et al., 2015). Refillable plastics packaging is often heavier than disposable packaging (Clark, 2018), and over the years, disposable PET bottles have outperformed reusable bottles in many of these refund schemes, as pointed out by Xevgenos et al. (2015) in their review. However, reusable PET bottles, as part of a deposit refund system, are shown to reduce GHG emissions compared to disposable, recycled bottles (Simon et al., 2016).

The sustainability of reusable plastic packaging for food has also been studied. LCA studies suggest, that the adaptation of reusable plastic containers in fresh fruits and vegetables supply chains can provide economic and environmental benefits, such as significantly reducing GHG emissions and solid waste (see, e.g. Levi et al., 2011; Singh et al., 2006). However, the economic and environmental impacts are highly case sensitive and depend on several parameters, such as the reusable plastic container's lifespan, the washing rate, the waste disposal system and (reverse) supply chain geography, as pointed out by Accorsi et al. (2014). Recent LCA studies on takeaway food containers show that material choices and recycling rates affect the environmental impact of reusable food containers (Gallego-Schmid et al., 2018) The digitalisation of food packaging has been suggested as a tool for the management of reusable food packages and for the quantification of the environmental and economic impacts within the food supply chain (Vanderroost et al., 2017).

The reduction and banning of disposable, single-use packaging has driven further market-based initiatives, such as TerraCvcle (Mahmoudi and Parviziomran, 2020) and reCIRCLE (Dorn and Stöckli, 2018), on reusable packaging alternatives for food and drink. Based on an existing market-based initiative, Dorn and Stöckli (2018) carried out a behavioural change intervention on reusable plastic food containers at a takeaway restaurant. They concluded that the use of reusable food containers can be fostered by social influence. However, the uptake of reusable plastic takeaway containers remained low as less than 7% of the customers chose this type of container. The authors suggest that the high costs of reusable plastic container deposit, being charged for acting sustainably and lower convenience could contribute to the low uptake (Dorn and Stöckli, 2018). Geueke et al. (2018) have proposed that deposit schemes for reusable food packaging could be promoted by using standardised containers that could be returned and refilled at different points of sale.

Contrary to market-based deposit schemes for food packaging, reusable coffee cup schemes are based on bans and financial incentives, such as charges for disposable cups designed to promote the use of reusable cups (Maye et al., 2019). Poortinga and Whitaker (2018) studied the use of reusable coffee cups at university and business coffee sites and concluded that a combination of measures, including normative messaging, the provision of reusable alternatives and financial incentives, such as placing a charge on disposable cups, resulted the greatest behavioural change. Until recent times, the studies on the effectiveness of reusable food and drink container schemes had still been limited.

### 4.3. Recycle and recover

Plastic recycling and recovery are perceived as the main waste management options for packaging waste (Hopewell et al., 2009). In a recent review of the literature, Prata et al. (2019) noted the socio-economic and environmental benefits of plastics recycling such as the reduced need for landfills, resource and energy savings, lower emissions compared to primary production and the creation of jobs – may outweigh the economic disadvantages. The impacts of plastics recycling depend on the types of polymer as well as on what packaging applications the material is used for. For example, the polymer properties of PET make it suitable for closed-loop recycling (Welle, 2011). In closed-loop recycling, which is also known as direct or primary recycling, the collected post-consumer plastic is mechanically reprocessed and reused in a similar type of application to the case of bottle-to-bottle recycling (Vanderroost et al., 2017). While the individual polymer grades of PE and PP can be easily recycled (Leal Filho et al., 2019), the material heterogeneity of food-packaging plastic waste and polymer degradation during the recycling process have been shown to especially limit the closed-loop recycling of PP plastic waste (Eriksen et al., 2019). Furthermore, the manufacture of food packaging from recycled plastics is highly regulated in Europe and the United States in order to ensure food safety (Welle, 2011). In their recent study, Foschi and Bonoli (2019) reviewed the EU policy mix for food packaging, concluding that the stringent regulation on plastics recycling for food packaging has, in fact, stimulated innovation, investments and partnering in biomaterial development and recycling processes. With the exception of PET bottles, the examples of the closed-loop recycling of plastic food packaging are still

rare in scientific literature. In open-loop recycling, also known as secondary recycling, the plastic food packaging is recycled as material to be used for applications other than food or drink packaging (Vanderroost et al., 2017). Tertiary recycling covers both chemical recovery/recycling and the composting of biodegradable plastics while energy recovery (incineration) is categorised as quaternary recycling (Hopewell et al., 2009).

Well-performing collection and sorting are prerequisites for efficient recycling and the circular economy of plastics (Van Eygen et al., 2018). Environmental policies have been established to incentivise the collection and recycling of plastics, including legislative, financial and voluntary measures. EPR is seen as one of the key instruments in the circular economy of plastics (Leal Filho et al., 2019) and waste hierarchy (Milios et al., 2018). Globally, deposit refund schemes have been shown to improve the collection and recycling of PET bottles (Schuyler et al., 2018), yet the benefits of deposit refund schemes are case sensitive and needs to be assessed for each region and each plastic material used (Prata et al., 2019). In Europe, the circular economy of plastics is high on the political agenda, with an emphasis on plastics recycling (Foschi et al., 2019). EPR schemes have been established to implement the EU Directive on Packaging and Packaging Waste and to support the sorting and collection of used plastic packaging material. The existing EPR policies are designed to comply with recycling targets, but schemes have been criticised for not supporting innovation and stimulating sustainability transformation, as reported in the case of packagingrelated EPR in Norway (Røine and Lee, 2008). In the EU context, the implementation of EPR for post-consumer plastic packaging has shown to be challenging due to the lack of harmonisation and transparency (Leal Filho et al., 2019). However, Leal Filho et al. (2019) argued that, despite the current challenges, more ambitious EPR for plastics could provide economic incentives for favouring circular business models and initiatives, including further reuse and deposit schemes. Furthermore, tightening regulations and higher plastic recycling rates in the EU are foreseen to force changes not only in packaging design and recycling infrastructure but also in the entire packaging value chain, as pointed out by Pauer et al. (2019). Some indication of such progress exists as 30 organisations along the plastics value chain formed the Circular Plastic Alliance in 2019, committing to provide 10 million tonnes of recycled plastic to the EU by 2025 (Nielsen et al., 2019).

Despite positive progress in plastics recycling, the closed-loop recycling of plastic food packaging still faces several challenges, as described earlier. Eriksen et al. (2019) suggested that, to overcome the challenges with heterogeneity in household plastic waste, improved tracer-based sorting and regulatory harmonisation related to packaging design or even chemical recycling are needed. To increase plastic waste recycling, policy interventions to create market demand are also called for, including preferential taxation (Milios et al., 2018), the mandatory use of secondary materials (Prata et al., 2019), better packaging sorting and recycling labelling (Boesen et al., 2019), improved public procurement and the introduction of international quality standards, as well as interventions in value chain coordination and integration, innovation and capacity building (Milios et al., 2018). Examples of the measures and initiatives targeting plastic food packaging are summarised in Table 2.

# 5. Controversies in the governance of plastic food packaging for the circular economy

# 5.1. Contradicting sustainability targets and rebound effects

As indicated by our review, sustainability targets and priorities addressing plastic food packaging can be contradictory in many ways (e.g. the reduction of plastic waste, the reduction of [marine] littering, decreasing the use of single-use plastics, increasing demand for biobased packaging or recycled plastics, the reduction of GHG emissions, reducing food waste and loss, ensuring food safety, the reduction of obesity etc.). Policies that are suggested to prevent food waste and loss, like packaging improvements to extend shelf life or to protect the products better (Thyberg and Tonies, 2016). may require increasing the environmental impact of packaging (Williams and Wikström, 2011), that is to say, the impact is increased due to the use of more plastic packaging material or materials that are difficult to recycle (Verghese et al., 2015). Yet, the environmental impacts of increased packaging are justified if it prevents food waste (Williams and Wikström, 2011), which causes higher impacts than the plastic packaging (Silvenius et al., 2014). However, sometimes packaging improvements intended to extend shelf life may in fact lead to food waste at the household level if the packages are difficult to empty (Wikström et al., 2016). Proenvironmental initiatives, such as banning certain disposable plastics that are used in single-portion food and drinks, may lead to unhealthy dietary choices, as suggested in an Australian study on PET bottles (Mikhailovich and Fitzgerald, 2014). On the other hand, more-demanding recycling targets may force replacing nonrecyclable, lightweight plastic films with heavier materials that can be easily recycled but that have a higher direct environmental burden from, for example, production or transport (Wikström et al., 2016).

In the light of the reviewed literature, sustainability policies focus strongly on governing the direct environmental impacts of post-consumer plastics, such as littering and waste, while the indirect environmental impacts, such as food loss and waste and related GHG emissions during the production and consumption phases, seem to have lower priority. Furthermore, the different functions of plastic food packaging, like containing take-away food versus protecting perishable food products, are not yet acknowledged in the environmental policies. The exponential growth of the plastic littering problem, especially in marine ecosystems, has drawn attention to the environmental problems. Furthermore, direct environmental impacts appear easier to comprehend than indirect impacts. As mentioned earlier, disposable food packaging is seen as a symbol of unsustainable consumption, and packaging waste is perceived by consumers to have a higher environmental impact than food waste (Lindh et al., 2016). Against this backdrop, it is understandable why plastic packaging is at the centre of public and political attention.

Another reason for the emphasis on packaging litter and waste could be that assessing the sustainability of food packaging options is still challenging. LCA is a widely applied method for evaluating the environmental impacts of packaging, and it has become an important decision-supporting tool in packaging development and design (Pauer et al., 2019). It is, however, important to note that the method has its limitations. Due to many modelling approaches and a multitude of factors that affect the environmental impacts of different food or drink packaging systems, the results of different LCA studies are difficult to generalise and compare (Pauer et al., 2019). Many packaging material LCA studies do not take into account the indirect impacts of packaging on the food supply chain, like food loss and waste (Molina-Besch et al., 2019), or recyclability (Pauer et al., 2019), nor do they take into account packaging design characteristics that impact on consumer behaviour related to household sorting (Wikström et al., 2016) or littering (Dilkes-Hoffman et al., 2018). Increasing demands have been raised by academia to study food and its packaging as a complete system in order to optimise sustainability (see, e.g., Molina-Besch et al., 2019; Wikström et al., 2019). It is, however, difficult to quantitatively compare food waste reduction with packaging waste reduction as

### Table 2

Exami	oles of measures and	l initiatives that a	ddress waste man	agement and th	he circular econon	iv of	plastic food i	packaging.

Measures and initiatives/primary targets	Waste reduction	Promote reuse	Promote recycling	Reduce littering
Regulatory				
Packaging waste legislation and recycling targets	х		х	х
Bans on single-use products (e.g. coffee cups and bottles, food packaging)	х	х		х
EPR schemes for post-consumer plastic packaging (in the EU)	х		х	
Food contact legislation on the manufacture of recycled plastics			х	
Financial				
Deposit-refund schemes for PET bottles	х	х	х	х
Material or packaging levies, taxation and weight-based material charges	х	х	х	
Market-based/voluntary				
Deposit schemes for reusable food containers	х	х		х
The use of recycled plastics	х		х	
Renouncing plastic's use (plastic-free grocery shops, coffee shops)	х	х		Х
Eco-design improvements	х	х	х	х
Investments in plastics recycling	х		х	
Voluntary agreements and pledges (e.g. the Courtauld Commitment)	х	х	х	х
Communicative				
Behavioural change interventions, awareness raising, capacity building, labelling	х	х	х	х

the comparison inevitably involves some judgement of how to prioritize between different sustainability goals. The literature shows that the current role of plastic food packaging is highly contested. The optimisation of plastic food packaging needs to entail its entire life cycle, but it involves several trade-offs (Barlow and Morgan, 2013).

# 5.2. Failing responsibilities

Other important characteristics that hamper the collaboration towards more sustainable food packaging are the unclear responsibilities and tendency to externalise the problems. Retailers are claimed to externalise the problems caused by the disposal of packaging waste to consumers, for example. While several environmental laws and regulations, like EPR schemes for waste packaging, are implemented in order to force producers to take care of post-consumer packaging waste, the polluter pays principle does not always materialise. For example, in the case of single-use coffee cup recycling in England, 90% of packaging waste disposal is paid by the taxpayer and only 10% by business, as pointed out by Maye et al. (2019). Financial instruments, like EPR schemes, have encouraged global waste trade from high-income countries to developing economies and this has contributed to the marine litter problem (Brooks et al., 2018). In addition, in the food packaging value chain the responsibility is distributed along the value chain and does not incentivise material reduction (Beitzen-Heineke et al., 2017), and unclear responsibilities are seen to fuel negative externalities from disposable, single-use plastics consumption, such as littering (Roper and Parker, 2013). Sometimes there is a fine line between the responsibilities of producers, consumers and the public sector. Consumers may assume that the recycling labels provided by packaging producers denote that the packaging is recycled if sorted into appropriate waste bins, yet the lack of bins or recycling infrastructure may hinder the actual recycling, as reported in the case of single-use coffee cups (Maye et al., 2019). While distributed responsibility has its challenges, it is suggested as a solution that could govern the problems (Maye et al., 2019).

While packaging-free groceries and supermarket aisles may remove certain negative externalities (i.e. disposable packaging waste) from consumers, they shift the responsibility of packaging choices to consumers by forcing consumers to purchase, clean and transport reusable food packaging. Regarding food waste reduction, economic incentives have been suggested for business actors to optimise packaging solutions (Thyberg and Tonjes, 2016). Yet, delineating producer, consumer and public sector responsibilities in food consumption and post-consumption stages is challenging from the perspective of plastic packaging.

# 5.3. Separate circular economies for plastics and food systems

Although a circular economy is proposed as a solution for the plastics problem and as a means to improve sustainability (Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2020), several scholars have argued that increasing the circularity may not be an environmentally sound option and may result in new sustainability challenges (see, e.g. Nielsen et al., 2019; Pauer et al., 2019). As argued by Nielsen et al. (2019), the industry may simply comply with the minimum recycling targets and market these efforts as systemic change. Furthermore, recycling does not encourage reducing the production of unsustainable products (Roper and Parker, 2013). Evidence from existing packaging waste EPR supports this argument. Kalmykova et al. (2018) have observed that, in general, an emphasis on the circular economy is still on the material recovery, recycling, consumption and use stages while manufacturing, for example, is less featured. Systemic change or transformation is still rare in the implementation of a circular economy (Kalmykova et al., 2018).

The reviewed literature indicates that plastic food packaging is discussed in the context of the circular economy of plastics, especially from the perspective of material recycling, recovery and reducing the consumption of disposable packaging. From the perspective of food systems, the emphasis is on the role of packaging in preventing food waste and loss. While in the circular economy of food systems, plastic packaging is seen as a solution in reducing food wastage, in the circular economy of plastics it is perceived as a recycling and waste problem that needs to be solved. Currently, these two circular economies mainly intersect in relation to the recyclability of food plastic material and the material safety of recycled plastics. Setting system boundaries is a necessity in research but there is a risk that in policymaking and business choices, too tight boundaries may result in sub-optimisation and distort the overall sustainability.

# 6. Concluding remarks

At first sight, an ordinary food package appears to be a simple object to be governed. Our results, however, reveal its complexity. Food packages as material objects and food packaging as a practice are intertwined with the key societal functions of materials provisioning and nutrition, for example. Following from that, the current governance measures for plastic food packages, similar to

the governance measures suggested by research literature, are numerous, depending on the sustainability targets addressed (e.g. marine protection, climate mitigation, resource efficiency, health and safety). The main emphasis seems to be on the mitigation of the direct environmental impacts of plastic waste and littering. By contrast, the indirect environmental impacts including food loss and waste, which have the highest impact on GHG emissions, have gained less attention.

The solutions for the environmental harms caused by plastic food packages are mainly searched for from the waste management and circularity of plastic material. Thus, the dominant governance approach is material oriented and puts high expectations on the ability of the circular economy transition to tackle the plastic crisis. Yet, our overview of policy measures that are either currently applied or suggested as potential tools to advance the reduction, reuse and recycling of plastic packages indicates that the goals of the circular plastic economy are inherently contradictory in many ways. For example, improving the mechanical recyclability of food packaging may lead to use of heavier monomaterials. Furthermore, different policy measures that promote mechanical recycling may create new path dependencies and lock-ins that hinder the adaptation of other sustainable practices, like biological recycling of biodegradable packaging, as has been the case in certain EPR schemes.

In addition to the different goals of the circular economy being mutually contradictory, the material emphasis of the circular plastic economy approach has also led to downplaying one important aspect of food packaging, that of providing services at the interfaces between different industries and consumers. In addition, the current environmental policies seem to fail to differentiate between the containment and protective functions of food packaging. While the circular economy covers the entire life cycle of a food package, so far, the beginning and the end of the life cycle have gained the most attention in the governance. Thus far, only a limited number of policy measures focus on the consumption phase, targeting the functional aspects and behavioural practices related to plastic food packaging. Thus, the different functions of plastic food packaging need to be acknowledged better in environmental policy design.

Following from the tendency of solving particular problems caused by food packages or enhancing particular goals under the umbrella of circular economy policies, the governance of the sustainability of plastic food packaging is fragmented, as is often the case with environmental policies dealing with systemic transformations. Our review shows that there is a lack of critical evaluation of systemic sustainability impacts of different circular economy policy measures in relation to different sustainability goals. There is clearly a need to increase this kind of knowledge base to support the designing of comprehensive policy mixes that could simultaneously tackle the environmental problems and address the need to use innovation to regenerate those practices of food packaging which are dependent on plastic at the moment. In addition, to avoid unanticipated systemic impacts from particular policy measures on other parts of the food packaging system, systematic tools for the use of anticipatory, future-oriented policy impact assessment in policy design should be developed.

# **CRediT author statement**

Henna Sundqvist-Andberg: Conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, writing (original draft), Maria Åkerman: Conceptualization, methodology, writing - review & editing, supervision.

# **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

# Acknowledgement

The authors wish to acknowledge financial support from the Package-Heroes project (grant number 320215) funded by the Strategic Research Council of the Academy of Finland. They are particularly grateful to Ali Harlin, Nina Tynkkynen, Ilkka Leinonen and Kirsi Kataja for their valuable comments.

# Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127111.

# References

- Aarnio, T., Hämäläinen, A., 2008. Challenges in packaging waste management in the fast food industry. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 52, 612–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.RESCONREC.2007.08.002.
- Accorsi, R., Cascini, A., Cholette, S., Mora, C., 2014. Economic and environmental assessment of reusable plastic containers: a food catering supply chain case study. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 152, 88–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJPE.2013.12.014.
- Álvarez-Chávez, C.R., Edwards, S., Moure-Eraso, R., Geiser, K., 2012. Sustainability of bio-based plastics: general comparative analysis and recommendations for improvement. J. Clean. Prod. 23, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.JCLEPRO.2011.10.003.
- Barlow, C.Y., Morgan, D.C., 2013. Polymer film packaging for food: an environmental assessment. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 78, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.RESCONREC.2013.07.003.
- Bastos Lima, M.G., 2018. Toward multipurpose agriculture: food, fuels, flex crops, and prospects for a bioeconomy. Global Environ. Polit. 18, 143–150. https:// doi.org/10.1162/glep\_a\_00452.
- Beitzen-Heineke, E.F., Balta-Ozkan, N., Reefke, H., 2017. The prospects of zeropackaging grocery stores to improve the social and environmental impacts of the food supply chain. J. Clean. Prod. 140, 1528–1541. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.JCLEPRO.2016.09.227.
- Boesen, S., Bey, N., Niero, M., 2019. Environmental sustainability of liquid food packaging: is there a gap between Danish consumers' perception and learnings from life cycle assessment? J. Clean. Prod. 210, 1193–1206. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2018.11.055.
- Brodin, M., Vallejos, M., Opedal, M.T., Area, M.C., Chinga-Carrasco, G., 2017. Lignocellulosics as sustainable resources for production of bioplastics – a review. J. Clean. Prod. 162, 646–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2017.05.209.
- Brooks, A.L., Wang, S., Jambeck, J.R., 2018. The Chinese import ban and its impact on global plastic waste trade. Sci. Adv. 4, eaat0131 https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.aat0131.
- Cela, E., Kaneko, S., 2013. Understanding the implications of environmental taxes: the case of the Danish weight based packaging product charge. Environ. Policy Gov. 23, 274–282. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1608.
- Clark, D.I., 2018. Food packaging and sustainability: a manufacturer's view. Ref. Modul. Food Sci. 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100596-5.22587-0.
- Dilkes-Hoffman, L.S., Lane, J.L., Grant, T., Pratt, S., Lant, P.A., Laycock, B., 2018. Environmental impact of biodegradable food packaging when considering food waste. J. Clean. Prod. 180, 325–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.JCLEPRO.2018.01.169.
- Dilkes-Hoffman, L.S., Pratt, S., Laycock, B., Ashworth, P., Lant, P.A., 2019. Public attitudes towards plastics. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 147, 227–235. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.RESCONREC.2019.05.005.
- Dorn, M., Stöckli, S., 2018. Social influence fosters the use of a reusable takeaway box. Waste Manag. 79, 296–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/ I.WASMAN.2018.07.027.
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2020. Global Commitment. A circular economy for plastic in which it never becomes waste. https://www.newplasticseconomy.org/projects/global-commitment. (Accessed 16 September 2020).
- Eriksen, M.K., Christiansen, J.D., Daugaard, A.E., Astrup, T.F., 2019. Closing the loop for PET, PE and PP waste from households: influence of material properties and product design for plastic recycling. Waste Manag. 96, 75–85. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.WASMAN.2019.07.005.
- European Bioplastics, 2019. Bioplastics Market Development Update 2018. https:// www.european-bioplastics.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Report\_
- Bioplastics-Market-Data\_2019\_short\_version.pdf. (Accessed 17 February 2020). European Commission, 2015. Communication from the Commission to the

European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Closing the Loop - an EU Action Plan for the Circular Economy COM/2015/0614 Final.

- European Commission, 2018. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. A European Strategy for Plastics in a Circular Economy COM/2018/028 Final.
- European Commission, 2019. Directive (EU) 2019/904 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 on the reduction of the impact of certain plastic products on the environment. Off. J. Eur. Union L 155.
- European Plastics Pact, 2020. The European Plastics Pact. Bringing together frontrunner companies and governments to accelerate the transition toward circular plastics economy. https://europeanplasticspact.org/. (Accessed 16 September 2020).
- Fitch-Roy, O., Benson, D., Monciardini, D., 2020. Going around in circles? Conceptual recycling, patching and policy layering in the EU circular economy package. Env. Polit 29, 983–1003. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2019.1673996.
- Foschi, E., Bonoli, A., 2019. The commitment of packaging industry in the framework of the European strategy for plastics in a circular economy. Adm. Sci. 9, 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci9010018.
- Foschi, E., Bonoli, A., Foschi, E., Bonoli, A., 2019. The commitment of packaging industry in the framework of the European strategy for plastics in a circular economy. Adm. Sci. 9, 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci9010018.
- Fuentes, C., Enarsson, P., Kristoffersson, L., 2019. Unpacking package free shopping: alternative retailing and the reinvention of the practice of shopping. J. Retailing Consum. Serv. 50, 258–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JRETCONSER.2019.05.016.
- Gallego-Schmid, A., Mendoza, J.M.F., Azapagic, A., 2018. Improving the environmental sustainability of reusable food containers in Europe. Sci. Total Environ. 628–629, 979–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.02.128.
- Geels, F.W., 2002. Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multi-level perspective and a case-study. Res. Policy 31, 1257–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00062-8.
- Geueke, B., Groh, K., Muncke, J., 2018. Food packaging in the circular economy: overview of chemical safety aspects for commonly used materials. J. Clean. Prod. 193, 491–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2018.05.005.
- Geyer, R., Jambeck, J.R., Law, K.L., 2017. Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci. Adv. 3, e1700782 https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1700782.
- Girju, M., Ratchford, M., 2019. The influences of portion size, context and package characteristics on snack food consumption: evidence from a U.S. Rolling crosssectional survey. J. Food Prod. Market. 25, 295–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10454446.2018.1553745.
- Hage, O., Söderholm, P., 2007. The Swedish producer responsibility for paper packaging: an effective waste management policy? Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 51, 314–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2006.10.003.
- Hahladakis, J.N., lacovidou, E., 2018. Closing the loop on plastic packaging materials: what is quality and how does it affect their circularity? Sci. Total Environ. 630, 1394–1400. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.02.330.
- Hahladakis, J.N., Velis, C.A., Weber, R., Iacovidou, E., Purnell, P., 2018. An overview of chemical additives present in plastics: migration, release, fate and environmental impact during their use, disposal and recycling. J. Hazard Mater. 344, 179–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.10.014.
- Halloran, A., Clement, J., Kornum, N., Bucatariu, C., Magid, J., 2014. Addressing food waste reduction in Denmark. Food Pol. 49, 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodpol.2014.09.005.
- Hawkins, G., 2012. The performativity of food packaging: market devices, waste crisis and recycling. Sociol. Rev. 60, 66–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-954X.12038.
- Hawkins, G., 2018. The skin of commerce: governing through plastic food packaging. J. Cult. Econ. 11, 386–403. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17530350.2018.1463864.
- Hoek, A.C., Pearson, D., James, S.W., Lawrence, M.A., Friel, S., 2017. Shrinking the food-print: a qualitative study into consumer perceptions, experiences and attitudes towards healthy and environmentally friendly food behaviours. Appetite 108, 117–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.09.030.
- Hopewell, J., Dvorak, R., Kosior, E., 2009. Plastics recycling: challenges and opportunities. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 2115–2126. https://doi.org/ 10.1098/rstb.2008.0311.
- Hottle, T.A., Bilec, M.M., Landis, A.E., 2013. Sustainability assessments of bio-based polymers. Polym. Degrad. Stabil. 98, 1898–1907. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.POLYMDEGRADSTAB.2013.06.016.
- Hsieh, H.F., Shannon, S.E., 2005. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual. Health Res. 15, 1277–1288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687.
- Humalisto, N., Åkerman, M., Valve, H., 2020. Making the circular economy online: a hyperlink analysis of the articulation of nutrient recycling in Finland. Env. Polit. 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2020.1817291.
- Iacovidou, E., Velenturf, A.P.M., Purnell, P., 2019. Quality of resources: a typology for supporting transitions towards resource efficiency using the single-use plastic bottle as an example. Sci. Total Environ. 647, 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2018.07.344.
- Jacob, K., Ekins, P., 2020. Environmental policy, innovation and transformation: affirmative or disruptive? J. Environ. Pol. Plann. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 1523908X.2020.1793745.
- Jambeck, J.R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T.R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R., Law, K.L., 2015. Marine pollution. Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. Science 347, 768–771. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260352.

- Kalmykova, Y., Sadagopan, M., Rosado, L., 2018. Circular economy from review of theories and practices to development of implementation tools. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 135, 190–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/I.RESCONREC.2017.10.034.
- Karan, H., Funk, C., Grabert, M., Oey, M., Hankamer, B., 2019. Green bioplastics as part of a circular bioeconomy. Trends Plant Sci. 24, 237–249. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.TPLANTS.2018.11.010.
- Kiessling, T., Knickmeier, K., Kruse, K., Brennecke, D., Nauendorf, A., Thiel, M., 2019. Plastic Pirates sample litter at rivers in Germany – riverside litter and litter sources estimated by schoolchildren. Environ. Pollut. 245, 545–557. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.11.025.
- Kirchherr, J., Reike, D., Hekkert, M., 2017. Conceptualizing the circular economy: an analysis of 114 definitions. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 127, 221–232. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.005.
- Kuczenski, B., Geyer, R., 2013. PET bottle reverse logistics—environmental performance of California's CRV program. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 18, 456–471. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0495-7.
- Lange, P., Bornemann, B., Burger, P., 2019. Sustainability impacts of governance modes: insights from Swiss energy policy. J. Environ. Pol. Plann. 21, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2019.1566062.
- Larsen, A.W., Merrild, H., Møller, J., Christensen, T.H., 2010. Waste collection systems for recyclables: an environmental and economic assessment for the municipality of Aarhus (Denmark). Waste Manag. 30, 744–754. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.WASMAN.2009.10.021.
- Lazarevic, D., Valve, H., 201. Narrating expectations for the circular economy: towards a common and contested European transition. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 31, 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.05.006.
- Leal Filho, W., Saari, U., Fedoruk, M., Iital, A., Moora, H., Klöga, M., Voronova, V., 2019. An overview of the problems posed by plastic products and the role of extended producer responsibility in Europe. J. Clean. Prod. 214, 550–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2018.12.256.
- Lebreton, L., Andrady, A., 2019. Future scenarios of global plastic waste generation and disposal. Palgrave Commun 5, 6. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-018-0212-
- Levi, M., Cortesi, S., Vezzoli, C., Salvia, G., 2011. A comparative life cycle assessment of disposable and reusable packaging for the distribution of Italian fruit and vegetables. Packag. Technol. Sci. 24, 387–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/pts.946.
- Li, W.C., Tse, H.F., Fok, L., 2016. Plastic waste in the marine environment: a review of sources, occurrence and effects. Sci. Total Environ. 566–567, 333–349. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.05.084.
- Lindh, H., Olsson, A., Williams, H., 2016. Consumer perceptions of food packaging: contributing to or counteracting environmentally sustainable development? Packag. Technol. Sci. 29, 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/pts.2184.
   Mahmoudi, M., Parviziomran, I., 2020. Reusable packaging in supply chains: a re-
- Mahmoudi, M., Parviziomran, I., 2020. Reusable packaging in supply chains: a review of environmental and economic impacts, logistics system designs, and operations management. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 228, 107730. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.IPE.2020.107730.
- Marsh, K., Bugusu, B., 2007. Food Packaging?Roles, materials, and environmental issues. J. Food Sci. 72, R39–R55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00301.x.
- Maye, D., Kirwan, J., Brunori, G., 2019. Ethics and responsibilisation in agri-food governance: the single-use plastics debate and strategies to introduce reusable coffee cups in UK retail chains. Agric. Hum. Val. 36, 301–312. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10460-019-09922-5.
- Mikhailovich, K., Fitzgerald, R., 2014. Community responses to the removal of bottled water on a university campus. Int. J. Sustain. High Educ. 15, 330–342. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-08-2012-0076.
- Milios, L., Holm Christensen, L., McKinnon, D., Christensen, C., Rasch, M.K., Hallstrøm Eriksen, M., 2018. Plastic recycling in the Nordics: a value chain market analysis. Waste Manag. 76, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.WASMAN.2018.03.034.
- Miller, M., Steele, C., Horn, D., Hanna, C., 2018. Marine debris trends: 30 Years of change on ventura county and channel island beaches. West. North Am. Nat. 78, 328–340. https://doi.org/10.3398/064.078.0308.
- Molina-Besch, K., Wikström, F., Williams, H., 2019. The environmental impact of packaging in food supply chains—does life cycle assessment of food provide the full picture? Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 24, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-018-1500-6.
- Moore, C.J., 2008. Synthetic polymers in the marine environment: a rapidly increasing, long-term threat. Environ. Res. 108, 131–139. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVRES.2008.07.025.
- Nielsen, T.D., Hasselbalch, J., Holmberg, K., Stripple, J., 2019. Politics and the plastic crisis: a review throughout the plastic life cycle. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Energy Environ. https://doi.org/10.1002/wene.360.
- Palombini, F.L., Cidade, M.K., de Jacques, J.J., 2017. How sustainable is organic packaging? A design method for recyclability assessment via a social perspective: a case study of Porto Alegre city (Brazil). J. Clean. Prod. 142, 2593–2605. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2016.11.016.
- Pauer, E., Wohner, B., Heinrich, V., Tacker, M., 2019. Assessing the environmental sustainability of food packaging: an extended life cycle assessment including packaging-related food losses and waste and circularity assessment. Sustainability 11, 925. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030925.
- Plastics Europe, 2019. Plastics the Facts 2019. https://www.plasticseurope.org/ application/files/9715/7129/9584/FINAL\_web\_version\_Plastics\_the\_facts2019\_ 14102019.pdf. (Accessed 10 February 2020).

Poortinga, W., Whitaker, L., 2018. Promoting the use of reusable coffee cups through

- Prata, J.C., Silva, A.L.P., da Costa, J.P., Mouneyrac, C., Walker, T.R., Duarte, A.C., Rocha-Santos, T., 2019. Solutions and integrated strategies for the control and mitigation of plastic and microplastic pollution. Int. J. Environ. Res. Publ. Health 16, 2411. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16132411.
- Risch, S.J., 2009. Food packaging history and innovations. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 8089-8092. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf900040r.
- Røine, K., Lee, C.-Y., 2008. With a little help from EPR?: technological change and innovation in the Norwegian plastic packaging and electronics sectors. J. Ind. Ecol. 10, 217–237. https://doi.org/10.1162/108819806775545448.
- Roper, S., Parker, C., 2013. Doing well by doing good: a quantitative investigation of the litter effect. J. Bus. Res. 66, 2262–2268. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.JBUSRES.2012.02.018.
- Schlosser, O., Déportes, I.Z., Facon, B., Fromont, E., 2015. Extension of the sorting instructions for household plastic packaging and changes in exposure to bioaerosols at materials recovery facilities. Waste Manag. 46, 47–55. https:// doi.org/10.1016/I.WASMAN.2015.05.022.
- Schnurr, R.E.J., Alboiu, V., Chaudhary, M., Corbett, R.A., Quanz, M.E., Sankar, K., Srain, H.S., Thavarajah, V., Xanthos, D., Walker, T.R., 2018. Reducing marine pollution from single-use plastics (SUPs): a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 137, 157–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.10.001.
- Schuyler, Q., Hardesty, B.D., Lawson, T., Opie, K., Wilcox, C., 2018. Economic incentives reduce plastic inputs to the ocean. Mar. Pol. 96, 250–255. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOL.2018.02.009.
- Sharma, C., Dhiman, R., Rokana, N., Panwar, H., 2017. Nanotechnology: an untapped resource for food packaging. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1735. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2017.01735.
- Silvenius, F., Grönman, K., Katajajuuri, J.-M., Soukka, R., Koivupuro, H.-K., Virtanen, Y., 2014. The role of household food waste in comparing environmental impacts of packaging alternatives. Packag. Technol. Sci. 27, 277–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/pts.2032.
- Simon, B., Amor, M. Ben, Földényi, R., 2016. Life cycle impact assessment of beverage packaging systems: focus on the collection of post-consumer bottles. J. Clean. Prod. 112, 238–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2015.06.008.
- Singh, S.P., Chonhenchob, V., Singh, J., 2006. Life cycle inventory and analysis of reuseable plastic containers and display-ready corrugated containers used for packaging fresh fruits and vegetables. Packag. Technol. Sci. 19, 279–293. https:// doi.org/10.1002/pts.731.
- Sonneveld, K., 2000. What drives (food) packaging innovation? Packag. Technol. Sci. 13, 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1522(200001/02)13:1<29::AID-PTS489>3.0.CO;2-R.
- Thanh, N.P., Matsui, Y., Fujiwara, T., 2011. Assessment of plastic waste generation and its potential recycling of household solid waste in Can Tho City. Vietnam. Environ. Monit. Assess. 175, 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1490-8.
- Thomas, G.O., Sautkina, E., Poortinga, W., Wolstenholme, E., Whitmarsh, L., 2019. The English plastic bag charge changed behavior and increased support for other charges to reduce plastic waste. Front. Psychol. 10, 266. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00266.
- Thompson, R.C., Moore, C.J., vom Saal, F.S., Swan, S.H., 2009. Plastics, the environment and human health: current consensus and future trends. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 2153–2166. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0053.
- Thyberg, K.L., Tonjes, D.J., 2016. Drivers of food waste and their implications for sustainable policy development. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 106, 110–123. https://

doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2015.11.016.

- Toniolo, S., Mazzi, A., Niero, M., Zuliani, F., Scipioni, A., 2013. Comparative LCA to evaluate how much recycling is environmentally favourable for food packaging. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 77, 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/ I.RESCONREC.2013.06.003.
- Torraco, R.J., 2016. Writing integrative literature reviews. Hum. Resour. Dev. Rev. 15, 404–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484316671606.
- Tranfield, D., Denyer, D., Smart, P., 2003. Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review. Br. J. Manag. 14, 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.00375.
- Urrutia, I., Dias, G.M., Clapp, J., 2019. Material and visceral engagements with household food waste: towards opportunities for policy interventions. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 150, 104435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104435.
- Van Eygen, E., Laner, D., Fellner, J., 2018. Circular economy of plastic packaging: current practice and perspectives in Austria. Waste Manag. 72, 55–64. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.WASMAN.2017.11.040.
- Van Sluisveld, M.A.E., Worrell, E., 2013. The paradox of packaging optimization a characterization of packaging source reduction in The Netherlands. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 73, 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESCONREC.2013.01.016.
- Vanderroost, M., Ragaert, P., Verwaeren, J., De Meulenaer, B., De Baets, B., Devlieghere, F., 2017. The digitization of a food package's life cycle: existing and emerging computer systems in the logistics and post-logistics phase. Comput. Ind. 87, 15-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2017.01.004.
   Verghese, K., Lewis, H., Lockrey, S., Williams, H., 2015. Packaging's role in mini-
- Verghese, K., Lewis, H., Lockrey, S., Williams, H., 2015. Packaging's role in minimizing food loss and waste across the supply chain. Packag. Technol. Sci. 28, 603–620. https://doi.org/10.1002/pts.2127.
- Vince, J., Stoett, P., 2018. From problem to crisis to interdisciplinary solutions: plastic marine debris. Mar. Pol. 96, 200–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.MARPOL.2018.05.006.
- Welle, F., 2011. Twenty years of PET bottle to bottle recycling—an overview. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 55, 865–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.RESCONREC.2011.04.009.
- Wikström, F., Williams, H., Venkatesh, G., 2016. The influence of packaging attributes on recycling and food waste behaviour – an environmental comparison of two packaging alternatives. J. Clean. Prod. 137, 895–902. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2016.07.097.
- Wikström, F., Verghese, K., Auras, R., Olsson, A., Williams, H., Wever, R., Grönman, K., Kvalvåg Pettersen, M., Møller, H., Soukka, R., 2019. Packaging strategies that save food: a research agenda for 2030. J. Ind. Ecol. 23, 532–540. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12769.
- Williams, H., Wikström, F., 2011. Environmental impact of packaging and food losses in a life cycle perspective: a comparative analysis of five food items. J. Clean. Prod. 19, 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2010.08.008.
- Williams, H., Wikström, F., Otterbring, T., Löfgren, M., Gustafsson, A., 2012. Reasons for household food waste with special attention to packaging. J. Clean. Prod. 24, 141–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2011.11.044.
- Xevgenos, D., Papadaskalopoulou, C., Panaretou, V., Moustakas, K., Malamis, D., 2015. Success stories for recycling of MSW at municipal level: a review. Waste and Biomass Valorization 6, 657–684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-015-9389-9.
- Yeh, C.-H., Lücke, F.-K., Janssen, J., 2015. Bioplastics: Acceptable for the packaging of organic food? A policy analysis. J. Agric. Food Syst. Community Dev. 6, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2015.061.009.